Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 17, 2024 REVISED: October 7, 2024 ACCEPTED: October 7, 2024 PUBLISHED: November 12, 2024

# Confinement and screening via holographic Wilson loops

Mauro Giliberti<sup>1</sup>, <sup>a</sup> Ali Fatemiabhari<sup>1</sup> and Carlos Nunez<sup>1</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Via G. Sansone 1, I-50019 Sesto Fiorentino, Firenze, Italy

<sup>b</sup>Department of Physics, Swansea University, Swansea SA2 8PP, U.K.

*E-mail:* mauro.giliberti@unifi.it, a.fatemiabhari.2127756@swansea.ac.uk, c.nunez@swansea.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We present the holographic dual to a family of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs in four dimensions, deformed by a VEV leading to a gapped system. We calculate Wilson loops in this system containing adjoint, bifundamental, and fundamental matter. We calculate the quark-antiquark energy E in terms of their separation L, finding an approximate analytic expression for E(L). This expression shows the transition between conformal, confining, and screened behaviors. Interesting phenomenology is discussed in a variety of examples. The tool used is the minimization of the F1 string action, for which the code used is made publicly available.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Gauge-Gravity Correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 2409.04539



# Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 General idea and outline of this work	2
<b>2</b>	The supergravity background and the dual QFT	3
	2.1 Step 1: holographic dual to a family of $SCFT_6$	4
	2.2 Step 2: holographic dual to the flow $SCFT_6 \rightarrow SCFT_4$	5
	2.3 Step 3: holographic dual to the deformation $SCFT_4 \rightarrow QFT_3$	7
3	Wilson loops	8
	3.1 Case I: $x, t, r[x]$	8
	3.2 Case II: $x, t, z[x]$	10
	3.3 Case III: $x, t, r[x], z[x]$	11
4	Numerical approach and results	12
	4.1 Algorithm	13
	4.2 Solutions	13
	4.3 Discussion of the results	21
	4.4 Comments on SUSY and Polyakov loops	24
5	Conclusions and closing comments	26
Α	Numerical optimization with RobinHood	28

# 1 Introduction

The Maldacena conjecture and its refinements [1-3] naturally lead to the application of holography to study non-conformal field theories at strong coupling, see for example the early seminal works [4-8].

Naturally, these developments led to the holographic study of confining field theories. Roughly, there are two types of constructions for duals to confining QFTs. The first of these approaches uses wrapped branes — see for example [5, 9-12]. The second describes the dynamics of a particular two-node quiver field theory, quasi-marginally deformed. On the string side, this is achieved by studying the dynamics of D3 and D5 branes on the conifold [13-16]. It is possible to connect these two lines of study [17-20].

Introducing the dynamics of degrees of freedom transforming in the fundamental representation of the gauge group (quarks), is a technically challenging problem. Important progress was achieved in various works. See [21–35] for a sample of representative papers. An important feature of these constructions is that the flavor branes (source branes on the gravity side of the duality) are either extended or smeared across all the internal space. As a consequence, instead of working with sharply defined  $SU(N_f)$  flavor groups, the constructions above discuss the QFT for which VEVs have broken  $SU(N_f) \rightarrow U(1)^{N_f}$ . This has effects on the dynamics: among them, the fact that for massless fundamental matter, the small-r region of the background (corresponding with the IR of the QFT) is singular, hence calculations close to this region are not trustable. Another consequence is that the phenomenon of screening is slightly obscured: indeed, the screening (the snapping of one 'connected' string probe into two 'disconnected' ones) is weighted by factors of  $g_s \sim \frac{1}{N_c}$  and should be not observable in the holographic regime. Despite this, convincing arguments have been given that point to the fact that a form of screening is at work and affects observables, see [25, 27, 28, 36].

Aside from this, an (unwelcome) feature is that the addition of many flavors in the models above mentioned comes together with a badly defined UV QFT (in the sense that the UV is not field theoretical). This makes difficult the application of holographic renormalization techniques [37].

In this work, we propose a pair QFT/holographic background that addresses the above problems. The model studied here belongs to the class of systems that use solutions of the Anabalón-Ross type [38–41], extended to holographic duals to confining QFTs and linear quivers with gapped IR in [42–48]. In this way, the above-mentioned papers constructed infinite families of backgrounds with a dual field theoretical high energy behavior (reflected by the asymptotic  $AdS_5$ ) and a well-behaved low energy (reflected by a smooth geometry), together with the presence of backreacted *localized* sources (all preserving four supercharges). We use this to calculate Wilson loop VEVs for a given gauge group in a QFT described by a linear quiver. We observe the effects of the localized sources on the Wilson loop and study this for different quivers. The most salient point we observe is that the probe F1 string dives into the bulk, not only along the usual radial/energy coordinate (here denoted by r), but also along the 'linear quiver' coordinate, referred here as z. The energy of this probe changes as we elongate the two ends of it. It displays a conformal law for small separations, a confining law for intermediate ones, and a screening law for long elongations. In this work we analyze this interesting phenomenology in detail.

Below, we describe the general idea of this work, give some details of the system we work with and present an outline of this work and its goals.

#### 1.1 General idea and outline of this work

The main goal of this work is to study the cross-over between confinement and screening. By this, we mean the transition between an area law and a perimeter law for the Wilson loop VEV. For this to take place, matter transforming non-trivially under the center of the gauge group must take part in the dynamics. The typical example is QCD.

Holography is our tool of choice to study the problem. In the absence of a sharply defined holographic dual to QCD (see the discussion above), we choose to work with the well-defined holographic dual to a family of 4-dimensional linear quivers with four supercharges and a strongly coupled conformal UV. These linear quivers are 'balanced' hence the presence of flavors is immanent to the construction of the UV fixed point. The holographic setups contain gauge groups with adjoint and bifundamental matter and also matter in the fundamental representation of some of the gauge groups. The 'fundamental matter' is holographically realized by the presence of localized D-brane sources in the bulk. These sources allow the possibility of open strings ending on them. We calculate the rectangular Wilson loop VEV following the usual prescription [49, 50] (for a summary see [51, 52]). Indeed, hanging a fundamental string probe, from the asymptotic radial direction (the UV of the dual QFT) we separate the end-points of the probe, along the x direction in the QFT. The string moves inside the bulk, minimizing its action. The F1 probe 'falls' into smaller values of the radial r-coordinate, also exploring the 'quiver tail' direction (denoted by z in this paper).

The minimization of the action for this probe is a problem that we do not attempt to solve analytically. Instead, we use a numerical approach described in detail later in the paper.

We find that the string probe enters into the radial (AdS) direction in a way suggestive of confinement. At the same time and along the quiver direction z, the string dives towards the position of the closest flavor brane source. Once the string is close to these D-branes sources, one must consider the process by which the F1 probe can snap and attach itself to the sources. This process, typically suppressed by the three-string coupling,  $g_s \sim \frac{1}{N_c}$  is enhanced by the presence of many localized sources, leading to  $g_s N_f \sim \frac{N_f}{N_c} \sim 1$ .

We plot the expressions for the energy of the probe E in terms of the separation in the QFT L (in the x direction). We give an analytic expression for E(L), that very well interpolates the numerical results. We also present plots for the string profiles, showing how these explore the radial coordinate (r) and the quiver direction (z).

As a proof of concept,<sup>1</sup> we study a particular family of holographic backgrounds dual to four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs, that after breaking of conformality by a VEV, represents holographically the (SUSY preserving) compactification of the CFT<sub>4</sub>. We emphasize the fact that the QFT is the twisted-dimensional reduction (in the presence of a VEV for a current) of a (3 + 1) SCFT to a (2 + 1) SQFT. The number of SUSYs preserved is four, so in the IR we have a (2 + 1)  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  QFT. This family of backgrounds is probed by fundamental strings that calculate the rectangular Wilson loop VEV for the resulting gapped (2+1) QFT.

The material is organized as follows. Section 2 is written as a three-step procedure. In there, we carefully describe the construction of the family of backgrounds we work with. In section 3, we write the generic action for the Wilson loop exploring both the radial-holographic direction and the quiver-tail z direction (as we stretch the quark-antiquark separation in x). We write the equations of motion and make some qualitative analysis of the dynamics. In section 4, we describe the numerical technique and approach and carefully analyze the results. The interpretation of these results suggests a confinement-screening transition. Section 5 gives some conclusions and presents topics for future study. Appendix A gives an account of the program and how to use it, which may be beneficial for colleagues wishing to use the publicly available code.

# 2 The supergravity background and the dual QFT

In this section, we present the supergravity background that we use to compute Wilson loops VEVs. This section is written as a three-stage procedure.

1. We first present a family of supergravity backgrounds dual to six-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = (1, 0)$  conformal field theories of the linear quiver type.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The techniques developed here can be applied to other holographic duals with similar characteristics, like those in [44-46].

- 2. Then, we compactify the SCFT<sub>6</sub> on a hyperbolic manifold, flowing at low energies to a family of four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs. We write the supergravity configurations capturing the dual description of this RG-flow.
- 3. Finally, starting from the fixed point associated with the  $SCFT_4$ , we perform a deformation driven by a VEV. This deformation leads to a family of smooth backgrounds, dual to gapped field theories in (2+1) dimensions.

Below, we detail the steps of this construction. To close the section, we discuss briefly the QFT at the end of this RG flow.

### 2.1 Step 1: holographic dual to a family of SCFT<sub>6</sub>

Let us start with a brief summary of the massive Type IIA backgrounds dual to six-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$  SCFTs. The family of solutions was written in [53, 54]. In this work we use the notation of [55]. The massive IIA backgrounds can be written in terms of a metric, NS two form  $B_2$ , dilaton  $\Psi$  and Ramond fields  $F_0$ ,  $F_2$ . They have  $SO(2, 6) \times SU(2)_R$  isometries, that realize the (bosonic) global symmetries of 6d SCFTs with eight Poincare supercharges (that the backgrounds also possess). These configurations read,

$$ds^{2} = f_{1}(z)ds^{2}_{AdS_{7}} + f_{2}(z)dz^{2} + f_{3}(z)d\Omega^{2}(\theta_{2},\phi_{2}),$$

$$B_{2} = f_{4}(z)\operatorname{Vol}(S^{2}), \qquad F_{2} = f_{5}(z)\operatorname{Vol}(S^{2}), \qquad e^{\Psi} = f_{6}(z). \qquad (2.1)$$

$$f_{1}(z) = 8\sqrt{2}\pi\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha''}}, \qquad f_{2}(z) = \sqrt{2}\pi\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha''}{\alpha}}, \qquad f_{3}(z) = \sqrt{2}\pi\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha''}{\alpha}} \left(\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\alpha'^{2} - 2\alpha\alpha''}\right),$$

$$f_{4}(z) = \pi \left(-z + \frac{\alpha\alpha'}{\alpha'^{2} - 2\alpha\alpha''}\right), \qquad f_{5}(z) = \left(\frac{\alpha''}{162\pi^{2}} + \frac{\pi F_{0}\alpha\alpha'}{\alpha'^{2} - 2\alpha\alpha''}\right),$$

$$f_{6}(z) = 2^{\frac{5}{4}}\pi^{\frac{5}{2}}3^{4}\frac{(-\alpha/\alpha'')^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{\alpha'^{2} - 2\alpha\alpha''}}. \qquad (2.2)$$

We have defined  $d\Omega^2(\theta_2, \phi_2) = d\theta_2^2 + \sin^2 \theta_2 \ d\phi_2^2$  and  $\operatorname{Vol}(S^2) = \sin \theta_2 \ d\theta_2 \wedge d\phi_2$ . The different geometries specified by the function  $\alpha(z)$  are supersymmetric solutions of the Massive IIA equations of motion (with mass parameter  $F_0$ ) if  $\alpha(z)$  solves the differential equation

$$\alpha''' = -162\pi^3 F_0. \tag{2.3}$$

Since  $F_0$  is a constant piece-wise continuous function,  $\alpha(z)$  must be a continuous cubic function of the form

$$\alpha(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \frac{a_2}{2} z^2 - \frac{162\pi^3 F_0}{6} z^3.$$
(2.4)

Given a six-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$  super-conformal field theory encoded in a quiver diagram, Cremonesi and Tomasiello [55] gave a recipe to find the precise solution to eq. (2.3), such that when replaced in eq. (2.1)–(2.2) gives the holographic dual to the UV-SCFT<sub>6</sub>. The recipe is the following:



Figure 1. A linear quiver. The balancing condition implies  $F_k = 2N_k - N_{k-1} - N_{k+1}$  for each node.

• Consider a linear quiver with (P-1) gauge nodes. The quiver must be 'balanced' to avoid gauge anomalies. We write the associated rank function R(z),

$$R(z) = -\frac{1}{81\pi^2} \alpha''(z) = \begin{cases} N_1 z & 0 \le z \le 1\\ N_1 + (N_2 - N_1)(z - 1) & 1 \le z \le 2\\ N_k + (N_{k+1} - N_k)(z - k) & k \le z \le (k+1)\\ \dots & \\ N_{P-1}(P - z) & (P - 1) \le z \le P. \end{cases}$$

• The ranks of the color groups are encoded in the values of the rank function at the integers z = (1, 2, 3, 4, ..., P - 1). Also, the second derivative of the rank function encodes the rank of the SU( $F_k$ ) gauge groups. In fact,

$$R''(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{P-1} F_k \delta(z-k), \quad \text{with} \quad F_k = 2N_k - N_{k-1} - N_{k+1}, \quad (2.5)$$

which is the balancing condition above mentioned.

• The function  $\alpha(z)$  can be found by integrating twice  $-81\pi^2 R(z)$ . The integration constants are determined by imposing continuity of  $\alpha(z)$  and  $\alpha'(z)$  in each interval. One also imposes  $\alpha(0) = \alpha(P) = 0$ .

When the function  $\alpha(z)$  above is used in eqs. (2.1)–(2.2), one obtains the holographic dual to the six-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$  quiver field theory of figure 1 at the origin of the tensor branch. There are various checks of this duality. For example, Page charges have been computed for the Ramond and Neveu-Schwarz fields and put in correspondence with the quiver of figure 1 and the associated Hanany-Witten set-up. Free energy of the SCFT<sub>6</sub> can be calculated holographically and compared with a field theory expression obtained in [42]. See [56, 57] for a detailed account of observables calculated holographically.

We now move to the second step of the procedure: using the backgrounds in eq. (2.1), to construct a family of AdS<sub>5</sub> solutions dual to 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs.

# 2.2 Step 2: holographic dual to the flow $SCFT_6 \rightarrow SCFT_4$

Based on the family of backgrounds in eq. (2.1), one can construct a flow from the sixdimensional CFT to a four-dimensional CFT, represented by a background with an AdS<sub>5</sub> factor. These flows were constructed in [58], see also [59, 60] for the study of the fixed point AdS<sub>5</sub> solution. The family of backgrounds dual to 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs is obtained when we compactify, on a hyperbolic space H<sub>2</sub>, the backgrounds in (2.1).

The backgrounds describing the flow between  $AdS_7$  and  $AdS_5$  are written in terms of coordinates, parameters and functions,

Coordinates:  $(t, x_1, x_2, x_3, r, \theta_1, \phi_1, z, \theta_2, \phi_2)$ . Parameter:  $e^{4\Psi_0} = 2^5 \times 81^4 \times \pi^{10}$ . (2.6)

Functions: 
$$\alpha(z), f(r), h(r), X(r), \quad \omega(r, z) = \left(\frac{\alpha'(z)^2 - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)X(r)^5}{\alpha'(z)^2 - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)}\right).$$

The string-frame metric reads

$$ds_{st}^{2} = 2\pi\sqrt{2}\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha(z)}{\alpha''(z)}}X(r)^{-\frac{5}{2}} \left[e^{2f(r)}dx_{1,3}^{2} + dr^{2} + e^{2h(r)}\left(d\theta_{1}^{2} + \sinh^{2}\theta_{1}d\phi_{1}^{2}\right)\right] + X(r)^{5/2} \left[\pi\sqrt{2}\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha''(z)}{\alpha(z)}}dz^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{2}\pi}{\omega(r,z)}\frac{\sqrt{-\alpha^{3}(z)\alpha''(z)}}{2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z) - \alpha'^{2}}\left(d\theta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta_{2}\left(d\phi_{2} + \cosh\theta_{1}d\phi_{1}\right)^{2}\right)\right].$$

$$(2.7)$$

The Neveu-Schwarz  $(B_2, \Psi)$  and Ramond  $(F_0, F_2, F_4)$  fields are,

$$B_{2} = \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega(r,z)} \frac{\alpha(z)\alpha'(z)}{\alpha'(z)^{2} - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)} \sin\theta_{2}d\theta_{2} - \pi\cos\theta_{2}dz\right) \wedge (d\phi_{2} + \cosh\theta_{1}d\phi_{1}),$$

$$e^{4\Psi(r,z)} = \frac{X^{5}(r)}{\omega^{2}(r,z)} \left(\frac{-\alpha(z)}{\alpha''(z)}\right)^{3} \left(\frac{e^{2\Psi_{0}}}{\alpha'(z)^{2} - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)}\right)^{2},$$

$$F_{0} = -2^{\frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-\Psi_{0}}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \alpha'''(z),$$

$$F_{2} = 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \sqrt{\pi} e^{-\Psi_{0}} \alpha''(z) \left[\cos\theta_{2}\operatorname{Vol}(\Sigma_{2}) - \operatorname{Vol}(S_{c}^{2})\right] + F_{0} \frac{\pi}{\omega(r,z)} \frac{\alpha(z)\alpha'(z)}{\alpha'(z)^{2} - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)} \operatorname{Vol}(S_{c}^{2}),$$

$$F_{4} = \left(\frac{2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{-\Psi_{0}}}{\omega(r,z)}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha(z)\alpha'(z)\alpha''(z)}{\alpha'(z)^{2} - 2\alpha(z)\alpha''(z)}\right) \cos\theta_{2}\operatorname{Vol}(\Sigma_{2}) \wedge \operatorname{Vol}(S^{2}) + 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{-\Psi_{0}} \alpha''(z) \sin^{2}\theta_{2} dz \wedge d\phi_{2} \wedge \operatorname{Vol}(\Sigma_{2}).$$

$$(2.8)$$

We have defined the volume elements,

$$\operatorname{Vol}(S^{2}) = \sin \theta_{2} d\theta_{2} \wedge d\phi_{2}, \quad \operatorname{Vol}(S_{c}^{2}) = \sin(\theta_{2}) d\theta_{2} \wedge (d\phi_{2} + \cosh \theta_{1} d\phi_{1}),$$
$$\operatorname{Vol}(\Sigma_{2}) = \sinh \theta_{1} d\theta_{1} \wedge d\phi_{1}.$$
(2.9)

It was shown in [58] that the configuration solves all the massive IIA equations of motion once eq. (2.3) and BPS equations for f(r), h(r), X(r) (see eq. (2.5) in [58]), are imposed. The Bianchi identities for  $F_0$  are violated,  $dF_0 = R''(z)dz$  at the position of the localized D8 brane stacks, as indicated by eq. (2.5).

In the UV of the system, for  $r \to \infty$ , the BPS equations of [58] have the solution,

$$e^{2f(r)} \sim e^{2h(r)} \sim e^{2r}, \quad X(r) = 1.$$
 (2.10)

The configuration in eqs. (2.7)–(2.9) approaches (for  $r \to \infty$ ) that of eq. (2.1), up to a gauge transformation on the NS two form (as explained in [58]) and the fact that AdS<sub>7</sub> is written as a foliation over  $R^{1,3} \times H_2(\theta_1, \phi_1)$ .

For low energies, the fixed point solution, attained at the end of the flow  $(r \to -\infty)$  is,

$$e^{2f(r)} = e^{\frac{2}{3}r}, \quad e^{2h(r)} = \frac{3}{4}, \quad X^5(r) = \frac{3}{4}.$$
 (2.11)

The fixed point solution is dual to a family of non-Lagrangian 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFT. The charges of D8, D6, NS5 are calculated in [58] and shown to be quantized. These numbers appear in the free energy and other observables of the 4d SCFT, as shown in appendix B of [46]. The family of 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs has (bosonic) global symmetries SO(2, 4) associated with the isometries of AdS<sub>5</sub>, U(1)<sub>R</sub> associated with isometries of the internal space and  $\prod_{k=1}^{P-1}$  SU(N<sub>k</sub>) "flavor symmetry" realized by the fields (vectors, scalars and fermions) describing the dynamics of the D8 sources.

Let us now describe the third and last step in our construction.

# 2.3 Step 3: holographic dual to the deformation $SCFT_4 \rightarrow QFT_3$

Our last step is to break conformality and flow to a gapped theory. To do this, we follow the technique explained in [45, 46]. This is a twisted compactification on a circle, preserving four supercharges. After this procedure is followed, we encounter a family of backgrounds, parametrized as above, by the function  $\alpha(z)$ . The metric and dilaton read,

$$ds_{10}^{2} = 18\pi \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{6\alpha''}} \left[ ds_{5}^{2} + \frac{1}{3} ds_{\Sigma}^{2} - \frac{\alpha''}{6\alpha} dz^{2} - \frac{\alpha\alpha''}{6\alpha'^{2} - 9\alpha\alpha''} \left( d\theta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta_{2}\mathcal{D}\phi_{2}^{2} \right) \right],$$

$$e^{-4\Psi} = \frac{1}{2^{5}3^{17}\pi^{10}} \left( -\frac{\alpha''}{\alpha} \right)^{3} \left( 2\alpha'^{2} - 3\alpha\alpha'' \right)^{2}, \qquad \mathcal{D}\phi_{2} = d\phi_{2} - 3\mathcal{A} + A_{\Sigma} \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\mathcal{A} = q \left( \frac{1}{r^{2}} - \frac{1}{r_{*}^{2}} \right) d\phi, \quad A_{\Sigma} = \cosh\theta_{1}d\phi_{1}, \qquad ds_{\Sigma}^{2} = d\theta_{1}^{2} + \sinh^{2}\theta_{1}d\phi_{1}^{2}.$$

$$ds_5^2 = \frac{r^2}{l^2} (-dt^2 + dx_1^2 + dx_2^2 + f(r)d\phi^2) + \frac{l^2 dr^2}{r^2 f(r)}, \qquad f(r) = 1 - \frac{\mu}{r^4} - \frac{q^2 l^2}{r^6}.$$
 (2.13)

The Ramond and Neveu-Schwarz potentials and their associated field strengths can be compactly written as

$$B_{2} = \frac{1}{3} \xi \wedge \mathcal{D}\phi_{2}, \qquad C_{1} = \frac{\alpha''}{162\pi^{2}} \cos\theta_{2} \mathcal{D}\phi_{2}, \qquad C_{3} = \frac{\alpha'}{162\pi} \mathcal{D}\phi_{2} \wedge \operatorname{vol}_{\Sigma},$$

$$H_{3} = \mathrm{d}B_{2}, \qquad F_{2} = F_{0}B_{2} + \mathrm{d}C_{1}, \qquad (2.14)$$

$$F_{4} = \left(\mathrm{d}C_{3} + B_{2} \wedge F_{2} - \frac{1}{2}F_{0} B_{2} \wedge B_{2}\right) - \frac{\alpha''}{18\pi} \mathrm{d}z \wedge \left(\star_{5}\mathcal{F} - \frac{1}{3}\mathcal{F} \wedge \mathcal{D}\phi_{2}\right) - \frac{\alpha'}{54\pi}\mathcal{F} \wedge \operatorname{vol}_{\Sigma},$$

in terms of a one form  $\xi$ , the two form  $\mathcal{F} = d\mathcal{A}$ , and its Hodge dual in five dimensions,

$$\xi = 3\pi \left( \cos \theta_2 dz - \frac{2\alpha \dot{\alpha}}{2\dot{\alpha}^2 - 3\alpha \ddot{\alpha}} \sin \theta_2 d\theta_2 \right), \quad \mathcal{F} = -\frac{2q}{r^3} dr \wedge d\phi, \quad \star_5 \mathcal{F} = -2q \, dt \wedge dx_1 \wedge dx_2.$$
(2.15)

We have checked that all equations of motion (Einstein, Maxwell and Bianchi) are solved once eq. (2.3) is imposed. The Bianchi identity  $dF_0 = R''(z)dz$  indicates the presence of sources, as follows from eqs. (2.3) and (2.5). When the parameter  $\mu = 0$  in the function f(r)of eq. (2.13), the background preserves four supercharges, otherwise, SUSY is broken.

Let us briefly comment on the QFT aspects of the background in eqs. (2.12)-(2.15). We have the dual to a family of QFTs that describe the flow from a four-dimensional CFT to a (2+1)-dimensional QFT. As discussed in [45, 46], the background describes a twisted compactification on the  $\phi$ -circle. If the parameter  $\mu = 0$ , the compactification preserves SUSY. thanks to the fibration represented by the one form  $\mathcal{A}$ . A Lagrangian version of the QFT (for the case of compactifying  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM) was discussed in [48]. A similar mechanism should take place for our non-Lagrangian field theories. An interesting universality of observables. proposed in [61], is natural to infer using the holographic description — see [45, 46]. In this work, we are concerned with non-universal behaviors for different members of our backgrounds/field theories, namely on observables that do depend on the particular function  $\alpha(z)$ . In particular, we focus on the Wilson loop. The Wilson loop calculated for a given gauge node should explore both the radial direction r and the z direction labeling the quiver. Whilst the behavior of a probe string exploring only the r direction is universal, the ability of the probe to explore the z direction brings the dependence on the rank function and the function  $\alpha(z)$ , as we discuss below. In particular, when the string probe comes closer to a stack of D8 (flavor) branes, the mechanism of screening takes place, due to the competition between a connected and a disconnected string configuration. We move on to study this.

### 3 Wilson loops

In this section, we calculate the Wilson loop expectation values for our family of QFTs whose dual description is in terms of the backgrounds of eqs. (2.12)-(2.15). We intend to test the cross-over between confinement and screening behavior at large separations for the external quarks in the QFT. We begin with the general formalism in holography, which is used to calculate the Wilson loop expectation values in QFTs, following the methods of [51, 52]. The procedure includes embedding a probe fundamental string into the gravity dual. We will study the probe related to the Wilson loop in three stages, considering the embeddings in different submanifolds of the geometry.

### 3.1 Case I: x, t, r[x]

For a generic background with the metric

$$ds^{2} = -g_{tt}dt^{2} + g_{xx}d\vec{x}^{2} + g_{rr}dr^{2} + g_{ij}d\theta^{i}d\theta^{j}.$$
(3.1)

One can assume an embedding for a probe string with a Nambu-Goto action as

$$t = \tau, \quad x = x(\sigma), \quad r = r(\sigma).$$
  
$$S_{NG} = T_{F1} \int d\tau d\sigma \sqrt{g_{tt}(r)g_{xx}(r)x'^2 + g_{tt}(r)g_{rr}(r)r'^2}.$$
 (3.2)

Here, and for all subsequent sections,  $x = x_1$ . All other coordinates in the background are kept fixed. The coordinates  $(\tau, \sigma)$  parameterize the string worldsheet. The equations of motion for the string read, see [52],

$$\frac{dr}{d\sigma} = \pm \frac{dx}{d\sigma} V_{\text{eff}}(r) . \qquad (3.3)$$

Following [52], we define the 'effective potential' as,

$$V_{\text{eff}}(r) = \frac{F(r)}{CG(r)} \sqrt{F^2(r) - C^2}, \quad F^2(r) = g_{tt}g_{xx}, \quad G^2(r) = g_{tt}g_{rr}, \quad (3.4)$$

where the constant  $C = \frac{F^2 x'}{\sqrt{F^2 x'^2 + G^2 r'^2}}$  is calculable using the equations of motion. Indeed, by choosing  $x(\sigma) = \sigma$ , and since the action does not explicitly depend on  $\sigma$ , one finds a conserved 'Hamiltonian'. Using eq. (3.3) we have  $C = F(r_0)$ , where  $r_0$  is the point where the embedded string turns in the U-shape embedding, satisfying  $r'(\sigma) = 0$ . We choose  $C = F(r_0)$ for this subsection and hence fix this freedom.

In this framework, we have an open string with its endpoints attached to a D-brane located at  $r \to \infty$ . Dirichlet boundary conditions are applied to the string at  $r \to \infty$  by ensuring that  $V_{\text{eff}}|_{r\to\infty}$  approaches infinity. The distance between the string's endpoints can be interpreted as the separation between a quark and an antiquark (both non-dynamical) in the dual field theory. The energy of this quark-antiquark pair is derived from the Nambu-Goto action. We need to regularize this energy, subtracting the energy of two static strings extending over the entire radial range  $[r^*, \infty)$ , which accounts for the rest mass of the quark-antiquark pair.

As stated, the string adopts a U-shape in the bulk. The separation and energy of the quark-antiquark pair can be expressed in terms of the distance from the turning point of the string,  $r_0$ , as follows:

$$L_{QQ}(r_0) = 2 \int_{r_0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\rho}{V_{\text{eff}}(\rho)},$$
(3.5)

$$E_{QQ}(r_0) = F(r_0) L_{QQ}(r_0) + 2 \int_{r_0}^{+\infty} d\rho \frac{G(\rho)}{F(\rho)} \sqrt{F(\rho)^2 - F(r_0)^2} - 2 \int_{r^*}^{+\infty} d\rho \ G(\rho) .$$
(3.6)

In [52], the criteria for confinement/screening are given. The mentioned general procedure can be applied to the background discussed in eq. (2.12). Note that we have kept z fixed. In fact, we assume that the string is located at a constant integer value  $z = z^*$  (this implies that we are calculating the Wilson loop in the  $z^*$ -th gauge group). The embedding coordinates are chosen as  $t = \tau$ ,  $x = \sigma$ ,  $r = r(\sigma)$ . We have

$$S_{NG} = T_{F1} \int d\tau d\sigma \sqrt{\det[g_{\alpha\beta}]} = T_{F1} T \int_{-L/2}^{+L/2} \mathrm{d}x \sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2}, \qquad (3.7)$$

with function definitions

$$F^{2} = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)}r^{4}, \qquad G^{2} = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)}\frac{1}{f(r)}, \qquad (3.8)$$

In this section we denote  $\alpha'(z) = \frac{d\alpha(z)}{dz} \equiv \dot{\alpha}(z)$  and similarly for  $\alpha''(z) = \frac{d\alpha(z)}{dz^2} \equiv \ddot{\alpha}(z)$ , reminding that in this discussion z is fixed at  $z^*$ . For the effective potential, one has

$$V_{\rm eff} = \frac{\sqrt{f(r)}r^2}{r_0^2}\sqrt{r^4 - r_0^4}.$$
(3.9)

We investigate the length and the energy of the quark-antiquark pair for analyzing the behavior of the QFT at low energies and searching for confinement (or screening) behavior.



Figure 2. Schematic example plot for the insertion of a probe quark anti-quark pair at the node  $N_1$  in a linear quiver. Screening becomes possible if the chain of interactions through the field theory degrees of freedom can excite a pair from flavor fermions in the  $F_{P-1}$  group.

Using eqs. (3.5)-(3.6), one has the length and energy of the quark-antiquark pair as

$$L_{QQ}(r_0) = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} \frac{r_0^2}{r^2 \sqrt{f(r)(r^4 - r_0^4)}} dr, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$E_{QQ}(r_0) = F(r_0) L_{QQ}(r_0) + 2\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha(z^*)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z^*)}} \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \frac{\sqrt{r^4 - r_0^4}}{\sqrt{f(r)r^2}} + 2\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha(z^*)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z^*)}} \int_{r^*}^{\infty} dr \sqrt{\frac{1}{f(r)}}.$$
(3.11)

The integrals can be calculated using numerical methods. The criteria for the stability of the embeddings are discussed in detail in [62, 63] and can be easily implemented for the present case.

# 3.2 Case II: x, t, z[x]

In our dual QFT setups, massless flavor quarks are present. Specifically, for each kink in the convex-piecewise linear rank function  $\mathcal{R}(z)$ , there is a corresponding flavor group, which consists of a set of D-branes localized in the z direction.

These flavor groups enable the screening phenomenon, which can occur through the creation of a pair of flavor quarks that disrupt the flux tube connecting the heavy probe quark to the anti-quark pair.

Even if the Wilson loop is associated with a gauge node that lacks flavor groups, interactions across the quiver can still excite the flavor quarks, as pictured in figure 2. The operator mediating this interaction is of the form

$$O = Q^{a_1} B^{a_1 a_2} B^{a_2 a_3} \dots B^{a_{P-2} b_{P-1}} q^{a_{P-1}} \bar{q}^{a_{P-1}} \bar{B}^{a_{P-1} a_{P-2}} \dots \bar{B}^{a_2 a_1} \bar{Q}^{a_1}.$$
(3.12)

We have denoted by  $(Q, \bar{Q})$  the external quarks, by  $(q, \bar{q})$  the dynamical quarks and with  $(B, \bar{B})$  the bifundamentals connecting gauge nodes (a similar operator, in a different system, was studied in [64]). Clearly, the longer the distance (in field space) between the gauge node and the nearest flavor group, the heavier the operator connecting them, and the more suppressed the screening process is. To study this process in detail, it is necessary to insert a probe string into the bulk, allowing it to extend not only in the spatial x and r directions but also in the z direction, which is related to the gauge node in the quiver. We will perform this calculation in two steps.

In this section, we embed a string in the background in eq. (2.12) that is extended in the t, x and z directions to further examine the screening behavior of the dual QFTs. Following the same reasoning of the previous section, for a string embedding parameterized by  $(\tau, \sigma)$  coordinates and extended in t, x and z directions, we choose

$$t = \tau, \ x = \sigma, \ z = z(x), \ r = \bar{r} \ (\text{fixed}).$$
 (3.13)

The Nambu-Goto action is

$$S_{NG} = TT_{F1} \int d\sigma \sqrt{F^2 + S^2 z'^2},$$

$$F^2 = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)} \bar{r}^4, \qquad S^2 = \frac{\bar{r}^2}{6}.$$
(3.14)

To determine if a configuration extending in the z direction can approach the nearest flavor group, we need to minimize this action. Further generalization involves considering a configuration that can extend freely in both r and z directions, which we address in the next section. For the present case, we have

$$S_{NG} = T_{F1}T \int dz \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)}} \bar{r}^4 + \frac{\bar{r}^2}{6} z'^2.$$
(3.15)

One can investigate this action for different rank functions. We assume that the quarkantiquark pair is introduced at the first gauge node, which corresponds to the boundary condition for the string at  $z^* = 1$ . The string is expected to extend into the bulk in the zdirection up to a point  $z_0$  and then return, forming a U-shaped configuration. Based on the analysis of equations (3.5) and (3.6), we have:

$$V_{\text{eff}}(z) = \frac{F(z)}{F(z_0) S(z)} \sqrt{F^2(z) - F^2(z_0)}, \qquad (3.16)$$

$$L_{QQ}(z_0) = 2 \int_{z^*}^{z_0} \frac{dz}{V_{\text{eff}}(z)},$$
(3.17)

$$E_{QQ}(z_0) = F(z_0) L_{QQ}(z_0) + 2 \int_{z^*}^{z_0} dz \frac{S(z)}{F(z)} \sqrt{F(z)^2 - F(z_0)^2} .$$
(3.18)

Let us now discuss the physically more relevant situation in which the string explores the (r, z)-space as is stretched in x.

### 3.3 Case III: x, t, r[x], z[x]

In general, the embedded string in the directions t, x, r, z can be again parameterized by world sheet coordinates  $(\tau, \sigma)$ , according to

$$t = \tau, \ x = x(\sigma), \ r = r(\sigma), \ z = z(\sigma).$$
 (3.19)

By integrating over  $0 \le \tau \le T$ , the Nambu-Goto action for the probe string is,

$$S_{NG} = TT_{F1} \int d\sigma \sqrt{F^2 x'^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2},$$

$$F^2 = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)} r^4, \qquad G^2 = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)} \frac{1}{f(r)}, \qquad S^2 = \frac{r^2}{6},$$
(3.20)

By choosing  $x = x(\sigma) = \sigma$  the action simplifies as

$$S_{NG} = TT_{F1} \int d\sigma \sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2},$$
(3.21)

with derivatives now respect to x. To determine if a configuration extending in the z and r direction can approach the nearest flavor group, we need to minimize this action. In this case, there is one conserved 'Hamiltonian', but as the action depends explicitly on z, one cannot find the second integral of motion straightforwardly. Because the action does not depend on x explicitly, one can find the conserved 'Hamiltonian' as

$$C \equiv \frac{-F^2}{\sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2}}.$$
(3.22)

If the string embedding takes a U-shaped form, one can derive the relation  $C = -F(r_0, z_0)$ , where  $(r_0, z_0)$  are the coordinates of the turning point. The two equations of motion obtained from the action read

$$\frac{d}{dx} \left( \frac{G^2 r'}{\sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2}} \right) = \frac{F \partial_r F + G \partial_r G r'^2 + S \partial_r S z'^2}{\sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2}},$$
  
$$\frac{d}{dx} \left( \frac{S^2 z'}{\sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2}} \right) = \frac{F \partial_z F + G \partial_z G r'^2 + S \partial_z S z'^2}{\sqrt{F^2 + G^2 r'^2 + S^2 z'^2}}.$$
 (3.23)

One may solve these equations using numerical methods. The relevant domain restrictions and boundary conditions for a U-shaped embedding ranging over  $x \in [-L/2, L/2]$  is

$$r(x) \in [r^*, \infty], \quad r(x = \pm L/2) = \infty, \qquad r(x = 0) = r_0;$$
  

$$z(x) \in [0, P], \qquad z(x = \pm L/2) = z^*, \qquad z(x = 0) = z_0;$$
  

$$r^* \in [0, \infty), \qquad z^* \in [0, P], \qquad z^*, P \in \mathbb{N}.$$
  
(3.24)

The differential equations are highly non-linear, coupled boundary value problems. In the process of numerically solving these equations, we encounter difficulties. In fact, imposing the boundary conditions, especially in the z direction, makes it challenging to obtain the desired solutions. Hence, in what follows we approach this problem by studying the minimization of the action in eq. (3.21). The method used is described in the next section.

We find that for any fixed L (the separation in x), the r(x) and z(x) minimize the action, which is a solution to the equations of motion. The parameters that interest us are (L, E), where the energy E is simply defined as the action  $S_{NG}$  evaluated on the solution found.

# 4 Numerical approach and results

As mentioned in section 3, solving the equations of motion (3.23) is a daunting problem. Instead, we choose to find their solutions minimizing the action (3.21) via a numerical optimization algorithm written in the Julia programming language, publicly available at https://github.com/cu2mauro/RobinHood.jl. Some more technical details about the algorithm, including how to use it, are presented in appendix A. Here we show the procedure followed to find the mentioned solutions, presenting the outline of the algorithm, the solutions found for three different rank functions, and our analysis of these results.

#### 4.1 Algorithm

The functions r(x), z(x) are approximated via the use of splines [65], i.e. piecewise polynomial functions, and in particular linear 1d splines. The interval [-L/2, L/2] is subdivided into n sub-intervals:

$$[x_i, x_{i+1}], \quad i = 0 \dots n-1, \quad x_0 = -L/2, \ x_n = L/2.$$
 (4.1)

Both r and z are taken as arrays of length n, so that the *i*-th element of each can be used to approximate the value of the corresponding function at  $x_i$ . The action is a function of the two splines and the interval, which performs a simple trapezoidal quadrature, integrating the Lagrangian. Then the action in eq. (3.21), together with the boundary conditions (3.24), is passed to an optimization solver, which uses an interior-point Newton method [66] to find which values for the arrays r and z minimize the action while respecting the domain restrictions and boundary conditions. To calculate the derivatives of the numerical function  $S_{NG}(r, z)$ , we employ automatic differentiation in reverse accumulation, which is the fastest option for our problems.

The value of the energy E is the action evaluated on the minimal configuration, and together with the separation L and the minimal splines  $r_m(x)$ ,  $z_m(x)$  it is stored to be analyzed.

Therefore, specifying the desired  $\alpha(z)$  function, the parameters of the theory  $(l, \mu, q, P, N, z^*)$ , and the separation L, our algorithm can find the configuration that solves the corresponding equations of motion and find the energy of such configuration. Of all these variables, we explore how different  $\alpha(z)$  behave when changing  $(L, P, z^*)$ , fixing  $\mu = 0$  (to be in the simpler SUSY case) and q = 1, l = 1. The parameter N can be fixed to any large number, being only present as an overall factor in the cases of choice. We remind the reader that the parameter  $z^*$  is an integer number in [1, P - 1] indicating the position (in the z-coordinate) of the gauge node for which we compute the Wilson loop.

Below, we present the results in the case of three numerical experiments. We follow the same logic and order in the presentation of each of them, with emphasis on the physical meaning of our results.

# 4.2 Solutions

Using the algorithm presented in 4.1, we perform three different "experiments". We chose three different functions  $\alpha(z)$  in eq. (2.4) resulting in three different rank functions R(z). For each experiment, we run the algorithm for multiple values of  $(L, P, z^*)$  and record, for each iteration, the functions  $r_m(x)$ ,  $z_m(x)$  that minimize the action and the value of the minimized action, i.e. the energy E. Here we present the data and the solutions found.

#### 4.2.1 Experiment 1: scalene triangle rank

For the first experiment, we chose a quiver that features a flavor group at z = P - 1, resulting in  $\alpha(z)$  and a triangular rank function, as displayed in figure 3.

In fact, for

$$R(z) = -\frac{1}{81\pi^2} \alpha''(z) = \begin{cases} Nz & 0 \le z \le (P-1), \\ N(P-1)(P-z) & (P-1) \le z \le P; \end{cases}$$



Figure 3. The  $\alpha(z)$  and  $\alpha''(z)$  functions for the scalene triangular quiver. The rank function presents a kink at z = P - 1, the position of the sources (flavor branes).

the corresponding quiver is



We study this quiver to understand how the solutions for the probe string vary when changing the value of P. Also, this illustrative example gives us a structure to better read off results from the following quivers.

We set our Wilson loop in the first gauge node with  $z^* = 1$ . Choosing *P* larger makes it energetically more expensive to create a dynamical quark-antiquark pair. In fact, as *P* grows large, the operator in eq. (3.12) — see figure 2 — connecting the QCD-string to the flavor group is heavier and more difficult to excite. The results of this analysis are visible in figures 4, 5 and 6.

To begin with, we set P = 10 (that is a quiver with nine gauge nodes and one flavor group attached to the ninth node) and  $z^* = 1$  (the non-dynamical external quark-antiquark pair transform in the fundamental of the first gauge node). As we stretch the separation L in the x direction, the F1 string explores both the r and z directions, turning around at the positions  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ , respectively. Figure 4 shows L (the separation in x when  $z = z^*$ and  $r = \infty$ ) and the energy E as functions of  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ . We note that some phenomenon is happening when  $z_0 \sim (P-1) = 9$ , which is close to the position of the flavor branes.

Figure 5 shows that, as we stretch the string in x, the profile explores regions closer to the source branes, staying close to  $z \sim (P-1) = 9$  for separations larger than a given critical distance  $L_{\text{crit}}$ .

Finally, figure 6 is very interesting, as it displays that a linear (confining) behavior for E(L) is observed, which crosses over to a screened behavior as we increase L. Importantly, the larger P, the longer the range for which the linear (confining) behavior  $E \sim \sigma L$  is observed. This is in agreement with our intuition that creating the operator in figure 2 becomes energetically more costly.



**Figure 4.** The string separation L and energy E as functions of the "tip" of the sting in the r and z directions. Even with some numerical noise, a transition is clearly visible in the  $L(z_0)$  plot.



Figure 5. The strings, extending in the z direction, for various values of the separation L. It is visible that, after a certain separation, the string tends to stay close to the flavor group situated at z = P - 1.

We can find a fit function that estimates the energy of the quark-antiquark pair as the function of the separation L. Our proposal is a function of the form

$$E(L) = -\frac{a}{L} + \gamma \frac{1 - e^{-bL}}{b}.$$
 (4.2)

For small  $L \ (L \ll b^{-1})$ 

$$E(L \to 0) = -\frac{a}{L} + \gamma L, \qquad (4.3)$$

which contains the conformal behavior at small L and transition towards confining with quark-antiquark string tension given by  $\gamma$  parameter. For large L we obtain

$$E(L \to \infty) = \frac{\gamma}{b},\tag{4.4}$$

which captures the screening behavior as the energy function saturates. The potential function proposed here is inspired by the analysis performed in ref. [67]. In this work, the confining



Figure 6. The string energy E as a function of the separation L, for various values of P, to analyze various distances to the flavor group. For higher values of P, the confining behavior holds for larger separations L.

potential of QCD in the quenched quark approximation is derived using the abelian gauge fixing method and monopole condensation. By introducing dynamical light quarks one can introduce screening and derive an effective potential for the quark-antiquark pair which has a form similar to eq. (4.2).

Approximating the data of figure 6 for P = 10, 20 with the function in eq. (4.2), we obtain the plot in figure 7. The derived values for the parameters are found as a = 0.011697, b =54.766 and  $\gamma = 30982.0$  for the quiver with P = 10. Also, a = 0.0204072, b = 53.0842 and  $\gamma = 61542.3$  for the quiver with P = 20. It is noteworthy that fitting a function of the conformal to confining transition form like E(L) = -a/L + bL + c fails to give an appropriate approximation in all of the cases considered. This is a good indicator that we are actually observing a screening behavior.

### 4.2.2 Experiment 2: isosceles triangle rank

For the second quiver, we chose one that features a flavor group at z = P/2, resulting in an isosceles triangular rank function, as it is visible in figure 8.

In fact, for

$$R(z) = -\frac{1}{81\pi^2} \alpha''(z) = \begin{cases} Nz & 0 \le z \le (P/2), \\ N(P-z) & (P/2) \le z \le P; \end{cases}$$

the corresponding quiver is





Figure 7. Approximation of the data of figure 6 for P = 10 and 20 with the function given in eq. (4.2). The derived values for the parameters in the fitting functions are a = 0.011697, b = 54.766 and  $\gamma = 30982.0$  for the quiver with P = 10 and a = 0.0204072, b = 53.0842 and  $\gamma = 61542.3$  for the P = 20 quiver.



**Figure 8.** The  $\alpha(z)$  and  $\alpha''(z)$  functions for the isosceles triangular quiver. The rank function presents a kink at z = P/2, the position of the flavor group.

We set P = 10, and vary the position of the gauge node for which we compute the Wilson loop, changing  $z^*$ . We expect the string to extend from the chosen  $z^*$  towards the kink at z = P/2 and the confining behavior to have a shorter range the closest we set  $z^*$  to P/2. The results of this analysis are visible in figures 9, 10 and 11.

In the same fashion as in the previous experiment, as we stretch the separation L in the x direction, the string explores both the r and z directions, turning around at the positions  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ , respectively. Figure 9 shows L (the separation in x when  $z = z^*$  and  $r = \infty$ ) and the energy E as functions of  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ . We notice that, as we increase L, the value of  $z_0$  does get closer to P/2, but eventually overshoots it. Comments regarding this behavior are presented in section 4.3: the behavior for strings that extend beyond the closest flavor group is not quantitatively well-described by our approach, but we can still analyze their qualitative working.



**Figure 9.** The string separation L and energy E as functions of the "tip" of the sting in the r and z directions. In the above plots,  $z^* = 4$  and the closest flavor node  $z_{cf} = 5$ . The transition is still clearly visible in the  $L(z_0)$  plot.



Figure 10. The strings, extending in the z direction, for various values of the separation L. It is even more visible that, after a certain separation, the string does not feature a "U-shape" and instead tends to dive into the z direction and "stick" to a particular value of z.

Figure 10 shows that, as we stretch the string in x, the profile explores regions closer to the source branes, staying close to  $z \sim (P-1) = 9$  for separations larger than a given critical distance  $L_{\text{crit}}$ . Figure 11 still shows the linear (confining) behavior for E(L) that crosses into a screened behavior.

The resulting plot for approximating the data of figure 11 for P = 10,  $z^* = 5$  with the function in eq. (4.2) is given in figure 12. The derived values for the parameters are found as a = 0.00709182, b = 52.8363 and  $\gamma = 21771.7$ . Again, the screening behavior is confirmed in this case.



Figure 11. The string energy E as a function of the separation L, for various values of  $z^*$ , to analyze various distances to the flavor group. For  $L > L_{crit}$ , the critical value of the separation after which the "U-shaped" strings are not preferred anymore, the results are very noisy, except for the string already situated at the flavor group, with  $z^* = P/2 = 5$ : for that case, the z-dynamics does not depend on L, and the energy E(L) only depends on the extension in the r direction.



Figure 12. Approximation of the data of figure 11 for P = 10,  $z^* = 5$  with the function given in eq. (4.2). The derived values for the parameters in the fitting functions are a = 0.00709182, b = 52.8363 and  $\gamma = 21771.7$ .



**Figure 13.** The  $\alpha(z)$  and  $\alpha''(z)$  functions for the isosceles trapezoidal quiver. The rank functions have two kinks, at z = 1 and z = P - 1.

#### 4.2.3 Experiment 3: isosceles trapezoid rank

Here, we choose a quiver that features two flavor groups, one at z = 1 and one at z = P - 1, resulting in an isosceles trapezoidal rank function, as it is visible in figure 13. Indeed, for

$$R(z) = -\frac{1}{81\pi^2} \alpha''(z) = \begin{cases} Nz & 0 \le z \le 1, \\ N & 1 \le z \le (P-1); \\ N(P-z) & (P-1) \le z \le P; \end{cases}$$

the corresponding quiver is

We study this quiver to learn how a string behaves when there are two possible flavor groups to reach. Our physical intuition tells us that each quark-antiquark probe will tend to the closest flavor node. The behavior for equidistant flavor groups (i.e.  $z^* = P/2$ ) is nontrivial and is analyzed in figure 15.

We set our Wilson loop in the various nodes, including the middle one, setting  $z^*$  accordingly. The results of this analysis can be seen in figures 14, 15 and 16.

We set P = 10. Similar to the previous cases, as we stretch the separation L in the x direction, the F1 string explores both the r and z directions, turning around at the positions  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ , respectively. Figure 14 shows L (the separation in x when  $z = z^*$  and  $r = \infty$ ) and the energy E as functions of  $r_0$  and  $z_0$ .

Inspecting Figure 15, we observe that when  $z^* = P/2 = 5$ , there are two equivalent choices of flavor branes for the string to attach to. Hence the string remains in the middle of the quiver at  $z^* = P/2 = 5$  and can not decide between the two. Fluctuations of the string will eventually lead to a choice for the string to fall on one of the branes either on the left or the right flavor groups.



**Figure 14.** The string separation L and energy E as functions of the "tip" of the sting in the r and z directions. Compared to the previous cases, the appearance of the  $L(z_0)$  and  $E(z_0)$  functions is mirrored, as the closest flavor group to  $z^* = 4$  is at a lower value of z.



Figure 15. The strings, extending in the z direction, for various values of the separation L and of the position of the probe  $z^*$ . Clearly, strings with  $z^* < P/2$  dive down to z = 0, while if  $z^* > P/2$  the strings tends to z = 10. The nontrivial case of  $z^* = P/2$  shows a string that, with no perturbations, holds its position.

Figure 16 shows similar behavior to the previous cases. The similar resulting plot for approximating the data of figure 16 for P = 10,  $z^* = 5$  with the function in eq. (4.2) is given in figure 17. The derived values for the parameters are found as a = 0.00862758, b = 52.8362 and  $\gamma = 26486.4$ .

### 4.3 Discussion of the results

In this section, we comment on various aspects of the results presented above.

Let us start with a conceptual observation. As we are working with linear quivers, some of our gauge nodes are not directly connected to a flavor group. In this sense, the systems



**Figure 16.** The string energy E as a function of the separation L, for various values of  $z^*$ .



Figure 17. Approximation of the data of figure 16 for P = 10,  $z^* = 5$  with the function given in eq. (4.2). The derived values for the parameters in the fitting functions are a = 0.00862758, b = 52.8362 and  $\gamma = 26486.4$ .

we studied are different from a canonical example like QCD (one gauge node connected to one flavor group). Our 'screening process' is suppressed with respect to the usual screening, as it involves exciting an operator like the one we write in eq. (3.12). In a QCD-like theory, screening is associated with the presence of particles transforming non-trivially under the center of the gauge group. Also, for the case of a generic linear quiver with flavors, the center symmetry is likely broken.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Thanks to Jeremias Aguilera-Damia for an explanation on this.

Regarding the creation of the dynamical quark-antiquark pair, we already mentioned that the process is not kinematically suppressed in our setups. In fact, the snapping of the U-shaped connected string into two strings (connected to the dynamical quark-antiquark pair) is proportional to  $g_s \sim \frac{1}{N_c}$  (being  $N_c$  the rank of the gauge node on which we insert the non-dynamical quark pair). This is enhanced by the number of possibilities for the string to connect to a flavor brane, hence the process is weighted by  $\frac{N_f}{N_c} \sim 1$  (here  $N_f$  is the rank of the global symmetry group).

It is important to emphasize that our Nambu-Goto action does not contemplate the actual screening process. We are not finding a solution where the fundamental U-shaped string actually disconnects and reconnects to the flavor branes (sources) present in the background. What we really observe is that, as the U-shaped string explores regions close to the sources, a qualitative change in the shape of the string occurs, and a change in the slope of the E(L)curve takes place. We interpret these changes as screening.

As this change happens, and the string tries to explore the region even beyond the sources, the numerical algorithm fails to converge to a smooth solution. The string keeps extending as it was "pulled" beyond the source, towards the boundaries of the z direction, 0 and P, yielding the noisy results visible in all the plots of section 4.2 for high values of L, especially in figures 16, 14 for which the critical value  $L_{\rm crit}$  is lower, and therefore there are more values of L for which the strings surpass the source. In fact, we notice that for  $L < L_{\rm crit}$  the numerical error is fully under control, thus we know how the string extends toward the source. When instead  $L > L_{\rm crit}$ , the obtained results cannot be trusted quantitatively, and we present them only for completeness, with no confidence of knowing how the string actually attaches to the source.

The screening process involves the competition between two configurations. In one configuration, the string is U-shaped (connected), whilst in the second, the string disconnects in the z-direction and attaches to the flavor branes (sources). The screening occurs when the disconnected string is energetically favored over the U-shaped one. Aside from this, the 'snapping' should not be kinematically suppressed. In our case, with  $\frac{N_f}{N_c} \sim 1$ , the process is of order one. Notice also that the string that extends along z from the gauge group to the nearest flavor group (with fixed  $r = \bar{r}$ ) is finite and with finite energy.

To have a numerical grasp on how the screening process happens, we can force the string to the z-value of the kink as soon as  $z_0$  reaches it, as shown in figure 18. We regard this as an "informed trick": we are aware that it is not a proper solution, yet we know from numerical evidence and physical intuition that, when the string reaches the source, the phenomenon cannot be well-captured by the approach presented before. Still, even in this analysis, there is uncertainty as to how we shall correctly interpolate between the U-shaped and straight configurations: we leave this to future study.

Another conceptual comment that should be made for full disclosure is the following: the low energy regime of the 'mother' six-dimensional SCFTs dual to the solution in eq. (2.1) is Lagrangian. As this theory undergoes compactification, whose dual is the background in eq. (2.12), the system becomes non-Lagrangian. When we write that the gauge nodes are located at integer positions of  $z^*$  and the flavor nodes at the kinks of the rank function, we are abusing of language. The gauge/flavor nodes picture needs not to be fully accurate in the 4d QFT.



**Figure 18.** The "snapped" version of figures 10 and 11. The optimization in r is left untouched, while the one in z is modified: for all L that would yield  $z_0 > z_{cf}$ , the string "snaps", i.e. is fixed at  $z(x) = z_{cf} \forall x$ .

It is interesting to comment briefly about the semi-analytic interpolation given by E(L)in eq. (4.2). We obtain this expression purely by fitting our numerical results with a trial (analytic) function. Similar expressions were obtained in more phenomenological approaches, see for example [67]. It is of interest to analyze if the similarity between our expression (4.2) and the expressions in [67] is beyond a coincidence. On the other hand, the fit we find is very accurate: using the Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) measure, we find that our fits following (4.2) in figures 7, 12, 17 all have a MAPE under 3%, while for comparison, a fit of the form E(L) = a/L + bL + c on the same data yields MAPEs higher than 30%.

Whilst we did not use this extensively in the above treatment, it is interesting to see the way in which the probe F1 explores the holographic space (r, z). This is what figure 19 shows, for the first numerical experiment — see section 4.2.1. We can appreciate how the string starts exploring the radial direction, and at the same time starts to tilt slightly in the z direction. There is probably interesting phenomenology hidden in the shape of these curves. We shall study this in the future.

### 4.4 Comments on SUSY and Polyakov loops

In this subsection we want to briefly discuss the possibility of our Wilson loops to be SUSYpreserving. Also, something about the calculation of the Polyakov loop in our family of QFTs. The comments are meant to be preliminary, as a more detailed study is needed, which we plan to do in future publications.

First, a discussion about the SUSY preserved by our Wilson loops. As it is known, the Wilson loop along a curve C for a pair of heavy quarks in the fundamental representation of the gauge group is defined as

$$W[\mathcal{C}] = \operatorname{Tr} P \mathrm{e} \oint_{\mathcal{C}} d\tau \left[ i A_{\mu} \dot{x}^{\mu} + \Phi^{I} \theta^{I} |\dot{x}| \right].$$

$$\tag{4.5}$$

We have used a notation familiar from the case of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM. In our case, we have a  $U(1)_R$  R-symmetry, so instead of six scalars, we have one massless scalar in the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  vector multiplet in three dimensions. The SUSY variation of  $W[\mathcal{C}]$  is schematically of the form,

$$\delta W[\mathcal{C}] = \operatorname{Tr} P e^{\oint_{\mathcal{C}} d\tau \left[ iA_{\mu} \dot{x}^{\mu} + \Phi^{I} \theta^{I} |\dot{x}| \right]} \oint_{\mathcal{C}} \bar{\psi} \left( i\gamma_{\mu} \dot{x}^{\mu} + \gamma_{I} \theta^{I} |\dot{x}| \right) \epsilon.$$

$$(4.6)$$



Figure 19. The strings of the first experiment, already shown in figure 5, extending in both the z and r directions, for various values of the separation L. It is visible how the strings bend in the (r, z) plane.

We have used the fact that the variations of the vector  $A_{\mu}$  and the scalar  $\Phi^{I}$  are proportional to the fermion  $\psi$  in the multiplet. Imposing that the Wilson loop preserves some amount of SUSY is equivalent to the condition

$$\left(i\gamma_{\mu}\dot{x}^{\mu} + \gamma_{I}\theta^{I}|\dot{x}|\right)\epsilon = 0.$$
(4.7)

The type of Wilson loops that we studied in this paper do not explore the R-symmetry direction. In other words, our configurations do not 'excite' any of the directions  $[\phi, \Sigma_2, \theta_2, \phi_2]$  in eq. (2.12). Due to this, the unit vector  $\theta^I$  is constant. Choosing a parametrization  $|\dot{x}| = 1$ , the derivative of eq. (4.7) implies,

$$i\gamma_{\mu}\ddot{x}^{\mu} = 0. \tag{4.8}$$

This in turn implies that the Wilson loop has to be a straight line to preserve SUSY. Since our Wilson loops are not straight lines and we do not excite the R-symmetry directions, our Wilson loops are SUSY-breaking. It would be very interesting to determine if SUSYpreserving Wilson loops exist in our system. This can be systematically studied once the G-structure of the background in eqs. (2.12)-(2.14) is known and understood. With the G-structure, SUSY branes of all types can be systematically found.

Let us now write some comments about the calculation of Polyakov loops in our backgrounds/QFTs. The Polyakov loop is a Wilson loop as in eq. (4.5), in the case for which the curve C links periodic (euclidean) time. In such case, we have a QFT at finite temperature. We can distinguish two situations for which the time circle is periodic (with periodic boundary conditions for bosons and antiperiodic for fermions). In one situation the circle is not contractible, of finite size (we might think of this as the QFT being at low temperatures), and the other one for which the time-circle is contractible (higher temperatures in the QFT). The first phase is represented by the time-periodic Euclidean version of the metric in eq. (2.12); the second phase by a black hole in the configuration (2.12)–(2.14). The Polyakov loop is charged under the center of the gauge group. If the Polyakov loop gets a non-zero VEV, we are in a deconfined phase, while if the VEV is zero, we are in a confined one. Characteristically, when we are in the black hole phase, the Polyakov loop's VEV is non-zero, the center is broken and we are in a deconfined phase, on the contrary, if we are in the Euclidean-time non-contractible phase, we find confinement and  $\langle W \rangle = 0$ .

One may be interested in the value of the Polyakov loop in our QFTs. Note that in our case we do not have the black hole phase: it would be interesting to find such black hole solutions for our family of backgrounds in eqs. (2.12)-(2.14). Even in the periodic Euclidean time, the value of this calculation is questionable: in fact, typically the quivers we deal with have no preserved center symmetry (this is ultimately due to the presence of flavor groups).

On the other hand, the calculation of a *Polyakov-like* loop, like the one proposed in [48] and also discussed in [68], presents interest. This is a loop in a configuration similar to that in eq. (3.19), but for a Euclidean F1 string:

$$\phi = \tau, \qquad r = r(\sigma), \qquad z = z(\sigma).$$
 (4.9)

In this case we have an induced metric,

$$ds_{\rm ind}^2 = \frac{18\pi}{\sqrt{6}} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)}} \left[ r^2 f(r) d\tau^2 + \frac{dr^2}{r^2 f(r)} \left( 1 - \frac{\ddot{\alpha}(z) r^2 f(r)}{6\alpha(z)} z'^2 \right) \right].$$
 (4.10)

The Nambu-Goto action in this case is (we use reparametrization invariance to set  $r = \sigma$ ),

$$S_{NG} = \frac{18\pi T_{F1}L_{\phi}}{\sqrt{6}} \int dr \sqrt{F^2 + G^2 z'^2},$$

$$F^2 = -\frac{\alpha(z)}{\ddot{\alpha}(z)}, \qquad G^2 = \frac{r^2 f(r)}{6}.$$
(4.11)

Notice that this problem cannot be solved by quadratures, as there is not a first integral of motion (a conserved 'energy'), given that the Lagrangian depends explicitly on 'time' (the coordinate r). We plan to discuss this observable in future work.

# 5 Conclusions and closing comments

Let us present brief and general conclusions, and propose some topics that this papers suggest for future study. We start itemizing some of the salient points of this paper.

- We described the construction of an infinite family of massive IIA backgrounds dual of a family of four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SCFTs. These SCFTs are deformed by a VEV and compactified on a circle with a twist. The 4d SQFTs flow to a family of gapped SQFTs in (2+1)-dimensions preserving four supercharges. This is captured by a corresponding deformation in the gravity side of the duality, that ends smoothly.
- We calculated Wilson loops using the holographic description, by minimizing the action of a fundamental string.

• Studying the energy of the quark-antiquark pair E in terms of their separation L, we found a law that encompasses all of our numerical experiments. This law reads.

$$E(L) = -\frac{a}{L} + \frac{\gamma}{b}(1 - e^{-bL}).$$
(5.1)

This shows a conformal behavior for small separations  $E \sim -\frac{a}{L}$ , followed by a confining behavior for intermediate separations  $E \sim \gamma L$ , that finally, for large separations, is dominated by a screened behavior, namely  $E \sim \frac{\gamma}{h}$ .

- There are various things that distinguish the screening we observe from the one found in canonical theories (like QCD). Most notably, the 'dynamical quarks' need not to be associated with the node for which we compute the Wilson loop. See the explanation around eq. (3.12) and figure 2.
- The procedure to find the minimal action for the F1-string, the string profile, the energy *E* and the separation *L* consist in minimizing the action using 'splines'. A discretization procedure described in section 4.1 and appendix A is also used. We make the code used publicly available.

Let us list some topics for further research.

- It is clear that rich phenomenology is hidden in the curves E(L), plotted across the paper. It would be interesting to understand some special cases of this, for example what occurs in very symmetric quiver diagrams. Similarly, the phenomenology of the coefficients  $|a|, |b|, |\gamma|$  seems to be rich, presenting dependence on the quiver, the length of it, certain hierarchies among those coefficients, etc.
- It would be nice to apply similar (variational) techniques used here to calculate other observables, like 't Hooft loops, Entanglement Entropy, complexity, etc. These observables respond to an 'action' of the form in eq. (3.20). In some of these cases, one may need to deal with PDEs.
- It is of interest to study the fluctuations of the string in the directions of the  $S^2 \times \Sigma_2$ part of the space. We believe these fluctuations will show the stability of our probes, but it is worth checking that. We need to make sure that we are exploring the lowest possible energy configuration. The code can efficiently work in these situations.
- It is also of interest to resolve directly the Euler-Lagrange equations (3.23)–(3.24) using the usual software, to cross-check our results.
- It would be interesting to apply the techniques in this paper to construct flows between CFTs in dimension D and gapped QFTs in dimension (D-1). After this, calculating Wilson loops in these models following this work is expected. This could be done for the SCFT-models in [69–75]. Similarly, it would be interesting to see how our techniques apply to the case of a flow between CFTs in different dimension.

Clearly, this paper opens new paths to explore. We believe it would be important to have various independent checks of our results.

# Acknowledgments

For discussions, comments on the manuscript and for sharing their ideas with us, we wish to thank: Jeremias Aguilera-Damia, Francesco Bigazzi, Nikolay Bobev, Aldo Cotrone, S. Prem Kumar, David Mateos, Simon Ross, Javier Subils. We are supported by the grants ST/Y509644-1, ST/X000648/1 and ST/T000813/1. The work of AF has been supported by the STFC Consolidated Grant ST/V507143/1 and by the EPSRC Standard Research Studentship (DTP) EP/T517987/1. The work of MG was funded by the European Union - Next Generation EU - National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP) - M4C2 CN1 Spoke2 - Research Programme CN00000013 "National Centre for HPC, Big Data and Quantum Computing" - CUP B83C22002830001.

### A Numerical optimization with RobinHood

To tackle the calculation of the Wilson loop of section 3, in order to find the solutions presented in 4, we use a numerical approach. We employed the Julia programming language [76], creating a module called RobinHood.jl.<sup>3</sup> In this appendix, we illustrate how the module works, how it is constructed, and how to use it autonomously.

In the module, the problem is solved as such: the integration interval  $\tt I$  of length  $\tt L$  is created via the function

```
function interval(N::Int,L)
I=Vector{Float64}(undef, 2N-1)
I=range(0,(L/2)^2,length=N)
I=sqrt.(I)
I=[-I[end:-1:1];I]
filter!(e->hash(e)!=hash(-0.0),I)
return I
end
```

The sub-intervals' length shrinks quadratically with L to better approximate the curved shape of the solution without needing N to be too large. The choice of it being quadratic is done after trying out the algorithm to numerically replicate the results of [1] as a toy problem.

The objective action function is a linear quadrature of the lagrangian function:

```
function lagrangian(x,r,rx,z,zx)
L = @. NaNMath.sqrt(F2(r,z) + G2(r,z) * rx^2 + S2(r,z) * zx^2)
return L
end
function action(c,I)
hh=[I[2:1:end];0]-I
pop!(hh)
r=c[1:Int(length(c)/2)]
z=c[Int(length(c)/2+1):end]
bx=I[1:length(hh)]+hh./2
rs=interpolate((I,), r, Gridded(Linear()))(bx)
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The module is publicly available on GitHub at https://github.com/cu2mauro/RobinHood.jl.

```
rx=diff(r)./hh
zs=interpolate((I,), z, Gridded(Linear()))(bx)
zx=diff(z)./hh
Lag=lagrangian(bx,rs,rx,zs,zx)
S=sum(hh .* Lag)
return S
end
```

To write them, we prioritize reusability, so that such an algorithm can work with more general Lagrangians in the future, and with higher-order splines if needed.

Above, c=[r;z] is the array of optimization variables, and the NaNMath.sqrt() from the Julia package NaNMath.jl is employed because, during the optimization process, some guesses might go outside of the specified domain bounds. A DomainError in the optimization process would halt the execution, while a NaN value is simply discarded, forcing the optimizer to make a new guess.

The physical parameters  $(P, N, z^*, q, \mu, l)$ , together with a numerical cutoff  $r_{\infty}$  and the  $\alpha(z)$  of choice, are taken as inputs from a config\_file.jl or are read off a background.jl file. In particular, the values of  $(P, z^*)$  and the choice of  $\alpha(z)$  need to be fixed in the config file for the program to work.

The boundary conditions (3.24), together with the domain bounds, are imposed via

```
cons(res, c, I) = (res .= [c[1], c[Int(end/2)], c[Int(end/2)+1], c[end]])
eqconst = [rinf, rinf, zstar, zstar]
lbounds = [fill(rstar,length(I));fill(0,length(I))]
ubounds = [fill(rinf,length(I));fill(P,length(I))]
```

and used to define the OptimizationProblem to be solved with the IPNewton algorithm of Optim.jl [77]:

```
optprob = OptimizationFunction(action, Optimization.AutoReverseDiff(true),
    cons = cons)
prob = OptimizationProblem(optprob, c0, I,; lcons = eqconst, ucons = eqconst,
    lb = lbounds, ub = ubounds)
sol = solve(prob, IPNewton(),g_tol=1e-12,x_tol=1e-4)
```

Here, co=[ro;zo] is the initial guess of the optimization process. Our algorithm is robust enough to find the same solution for a wide range of initial guesses. However, probably because of the nonlinear nature of the problem, if the initial guess is very noisy, some of the optimizations do not converge. This is an issue that can likely be solved by a thoughtful choice for the optimization parameters, which we are planning to do in the future.

Multi-Threading parallelism is, for the present time, implemented via the Threads.@threads macro, yielding a simple but effective way to run the algorithm with different values of the parameters  $(L, P, z^*)$  in a short time. We also plan to implement a more thoughtful parallelization, in case future analyses require more computing time.

Inside the module, we also include all the functions used for the plots of section 4.1. Their details can be found in the plots.jl file.

Practically, the only commands needed to run the code in a Julia window with RobinHood.jl already installed via the instruction in its README file, are

```
julia> ] #enter package mode
pkg> add https://github.com/cu2mauro/RobinHood.jl
julia> using RobinHood
julia> CreateConfigFile()
julia> include("config_file.jl")
```

The only options to be modified in order to explore the various configurations presented in this paper are the parameters of the physical background and the choice of the  $\alpha(z)$  function, inside the config\_file.jl text file.

**Data Availability Statement.** This article has associated data in a data repository. The data generated for this manuscript can be downloaded from ref. [78].

Code Availability Statement. This article has associated code in a code repository.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

### References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [4] N. Itzhaki, J.M. Maldacena, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Supergravity and the large N limit of theories with sixteen supercharges, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 046004 [hep-th/9802042]
   [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 505 [hep-th/9803131] [INSPIRE].
- [6] H.J. Boonstra, K. Skenderis and P.K. Townsend, The domain wall/QFT correspondence, JHEP 01 (1999) 003 [hep-th/9807137] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Girardello, M. Petrini, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, Confinement and condensates without fine tuning in supergravity duals of gauge theories, JHEP 05 (1999) 026 [hep-th/9903026] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, The string dual of a confining four-dimensional gauge theory, hep-th/0003136 [INSPIRE].
- [9] J.M. Maldacena and C. Núñez, Towards the large N limit of pure N = 1 superYang-Mills, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 588 [hep-th/0008001] [INSPIRE].
- M. Atiyah, J.M. Maldacena and C. Vafa, An M theory flop as a large N duality, J. Math. Phys. 42 (2001) 3209 [hep-th/0011256] [INSPIRE].

- [11] J.D. Edelstein and C. Núñez, D6-branes and M theory geometrical transitions from gauged supergravity, JHEP 04 (2001) 028 [hep-th/0103167] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.M. Maldacena and H.S. Nastase, The supergravity dual of a theory with dynamical supersymmetry breaking, JHEP 09 (2001) 024 [hep-th/0105049] [INSPIRE].
- [13] I.R. Klebanov and E. Witten, Superconformal field theory on three-branes at a Calabi-Yau singularity, Nucl. Phys. B 536 (1998) 199 [hep-th/9807080] [INSPIRE].
- [14] I.R. Klebanov and A.A. Tseytlin, Gravity duals of supersymmetric  $SU(N) \times SU(N+M)$  gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 578 (2000) 123 [hep-th/0002159] [INSPIRE].
- [15] I.R. Klebanov and M.J. Strassler, Supergravity and a confining gauge theory: Duality cascades and chi SB resolution of naked singularities, JHEP 08 (2000) 052 [hep-th/0007191] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S.S. Gubser, C.P. Herzog and I.R. Klebanov, Symmetry breaking and axionic strings in the warped deformed conifold, JHEP 09 (2004) 036 [hep-th/0405282] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Maldacena and D. Martelli, The Unwarped, resolved, deformed conifold: Fivebranes and the baryonic branch of the Klebanov-Strassler theory, JHEP 01 (2010) 104 [arXiv:0906.0591]
   [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Gaillard, D. Martelli, C. Núñez and I. Papadimitriou, The warped, resolved, deformed conifold gets flavoured, Nucl. Phys. B 843 (2011) 1 [arXiv:1004.4638] [INSPIRE].
- [19] E. Caceres, C. Núñez and L.A. Pando-Zayas, Heating up the Baryonic Branch with U-duality: A unified picture of conifold black holes, JHEP 03 (2011) 054 [arXiv:1101.4123] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Elander, J. Gaillard, C. Núñez and M. Piai, Towards multi-scale dynamics on the baryonic branch of Klebanov-Strassler, JHEP 07 (2011) 056 [arXiv:1104.3963] [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Casero, C. Núñez and A. Paredes, Towards the string dual of N = 1 SQCD-like theories, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 086005 [hep-th/0602027] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Paredes, On unquenched N = 2 holographic flavor, JHEP **12** (2006) 032 [hep-th/0610270] [INSPIRE].
- [23] B.A. Burrington, V.S. Kaplunovsky and J. Sonnenschein, Localized Backreacted Flavor Branes in Holographic QCD, JHEP 02 (2008) 001 [arXiv:0708.1234] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Casero, C. Núñez and A. Paredes, Elaborations on the String Dual to N = 1 SQCD, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 046003 [arXiv:0709.3421] [INSPIRE].
- [25] F. Bigazzi, A.L. Cotrone, C. Núñez and A. Paredes, Heavy quark potential with dynamical flavors: A first order transition, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 114012 [arXiv:0806.1741] [INSPIRE].
- [26] C. Hoyos-Badajoz, C. Núñez and I. Papadimitriou, Comments on the String dual to N = 1 SQCD, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 086005 [arXiv:0807.3039] [INSPIRE].
- [27] F. Bigazzi, A.L. Cotrone, A. Paredes and A. Ramallo, Non chiral dynamical flavors and screening on the conifold, Fortsch. Phys. 57 (2009) 514 [arXiv:0810.5220] [INSPIRE].
- [28] F. Bigazzi, A.L. Cotrone, A. Paredes and A.V. Ramallo, The Klebanov-Strassler model with massive dynamical flavors, JHEP 03 (2009) 153 [arXiv:0812.3399] [INSPIRE].
- [29] F. Bigazzi et al., D3-D7 Quark-Gluon Plasmas, JHEP 11 (2009) 117 [arXiv:0909.2865] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Núñez, A. Paredes and A.V. Ramallo, Unquenched Flavor in the Gauge/Gravity Correspondence, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2010 (2010) 196714 [arXiv:1002.1088] [INSPIRE].

- [31] F. Benini et al., Unquenched flavors in the Klebanov-Witten model, JHEP 02 (2007) 090 [hep-th/0612118] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Benini et al., Backreacting flavors in the Klebanov-Strassler background, JHEP 09 (2007) 109
   [arXiv:0706.1238] [INSPIRE].
- [33] F. Bigazzi and A.L. Cotrone, Holographic QCD with Dynamical Flavors, JHEP 01 (2015) 104 [arXiv:1410.2443] [INSPIRE].
- [34] F. Bigazzi et al., D3-D7 Quark-Gluon Plasmas at Finite Baryon Density, JHEP 04 (2011) 060 [arXiv:1101.3560] [INSPIRE].
- [35] Y. Bea, E. Conde, N. Jokela and A.V. Ramallo, Unquenched massive flavors and flows in Chern-Simons matter theories, JHEP 12 (2013) 033 [arXiv:1309.4453] [INSPIRE].
- [36] F. Bigazzi, A.L. Cotrone, A. Paredes and A.V. Ramallo, Screening effects on meson masses from holography, JHEP 05 (2009) 034 [arXiv:0903.4747] [INSPIRE].
- [37] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, AdS / CFT correspondence and geometry, IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys. 8 (2005) 73 [hep-th/0404176] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Anabalón and S.F. Ross, Supersymmetric solitons and a degeneracy of solutions in AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2021) 015 [arXiv:2104.14572] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Anabalón, A. Gallerati, S. Ross and M. Trigiante, Supersymmetric solitons in gauged  $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity, JHEP **02** (2023) 055 [arXiv:2210.06319] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Anabalón, H. Nastase and M. Oyarzo, Supersymmetric AdS solitons and the interconnection of different vacua of N = 4 Super Yang-Mills, JHEP 05 (2024) 217 [arXiv:2402.18482]
   [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Anabalón, D. Astefanesei, A. Gallerati and J. Oliva, Supersymmetric smooth distributions of M2-branes as AdS solitons, JHEP 05 (2024) 077 [arXiv:2402.00880] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Núñez, M. Oyarzo and R. Stuardo, Confinement in (1 + 1) dimensions: a holographic perspective from I-branes, JHEP 09 (2023) 201 [arXiv:2307.04783] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Núñez, M. Oyarzo and R. Stuardo, Confinement and D5-branes, JHEP 03 (2024) 080 [arXiv:2311.17998] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Fatemiabhari and C. Núñez, From conformal to confining field theories using holography, JHEP 03 (2024) 160 [arXiv:2401.04158] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Chatzis, A. Fatemiabhari, C. Núñez and P. Weck, Conformal to confining SQFTs from holography, JHEP 08 (2024) 041 [arXiv:2405.05563] [INSPIRE].
- [46] D. Chatzis, A. Fatemiabhari, C. Núñez and P. Weck, SCFT deformations via uplifted solitons, Nucl. Phys. B 1006 (2024) 116659 [arXiv:2406.01685] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Barbosa, H. Nastase, C. Núñez and R. Stuardo, Penrose limits of I-branes, twist-compactified D5-branes, and spin chains, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 046015 [arXiv:2405.08767] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S.P. Kumar and R. Stuardo, Twisted circle compactification of N = 4 SYM and its holographic dual, JHEP 08 (2024) 089 [arXiv:2405.03739] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J.M. Maldacena, Wilson loops in large N field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 (1998) 4859
   [hep-th/9803002] [INSPIRE].
- [50] S.-J. Rey and J.-T. Yee, Macroscopic strings as heavy quarks in large N gauge theory and de Sitter supergravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 22 (2001) 379 [hep-th/9803001] [INSPIRE].

- [51] J. Sonnenschein, What does the string / gauge correspondence teach us about Wilson loops?, in the proceedings of the Advanced School on Supersymmetry in the Theories of Fields, Strings and Branes, Santiago de Compostela, Spain, July 26–31 (1999) [hep-th/0003032] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C. Núñez, M. Piai and A. Rago, Wilson Loops in string duals of Walking and Flavored Systems, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 086001 [arXiv:0909.0748] [INSPIRE].
- [53] F. Apruzzi, M. Fazzi, D. Rosa and A. Tomasiello, All AdS<sub>7</sub> solutions of type II supergravity, JHEP 04 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1309.2949] [INSPIRE].
- [54] F. Apruzzi et al., Six-Dimensional Superconformal Theories and their Compactifications from Type IIA Supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 061601 [arXiv:1502.06616] [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Cremonesi and A. Tomasiello, 6d holographic anomaly match as a continuum limit, JHEP 05 (2016) 031 [arXiv:1512.02225] [INSPIRE].
- [56] C. Núñez, J.M. Penín, D. Roychowdhury and J. Van Gorsel, The non-Integrability of Strings in Massive Type IIA and their Holographic duals, JHEP 06 (2018) 078 [arXiv:1802.04269] [INSPIRE].
- [57] K. Filippas, C. Núñez and J. Van Gorsel, Integrability and holographic aspects of six-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = (1, 0)$  superconformal field theories, JHEP **06** (2019) 069 [arXiv:1901.08598] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P. Merrikin, C. Núñez and R. Stuardo, Compactification of 6d N = (1,0) quivers, 4d SCFTs and their holographic dual Massive IIA backgrounds, Nucl. Phys. B 996 (2023) 116356
   [arXiv:2210.02458] [INSPIRE].
- [59] F. Apruzzi, M. Fazzi, A. Passias and A. Tomasiello, Supersymmetric AdS<sub>5</sub> solutions of massive IIA supergravity, JHEP 06 (2015) 195 [arXiv:1502.06620] [INSPIRE].
- [60] I. Bah, A. Passias and A. Tomasiello, AdS<sub>5</sub> compactifications with punctures in massive IIA supergravity, JHEP 11 (2017) 050 [arXiv:1704.07389] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J.P. Gauntlett and O. Varela, Consistent Kaluza-Klein reductions for general supersymmetric AdS solutions, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 126007 [arXiv:0707.2315] [INSPIRE].
- [62] R.E. Arias and G.A. Silva, Wilson loops stability in the gauge/string correspondence, JHEP 01 (2010) 023 [arXiv:0911.0662] [INSPIRE].
- [63] D. Chatzis, Stability of Wilson loops and other observables in various type IIB backgrounds, Nucl. Phys. B 1004 (2024) 116560 [arXiv:2401.13637] [INSPIRE].
- [64] O. Bergman, D. Rodríguez-Gómez and C.F. Uhlemann, Testing AdS<sub>6</sub>/CFT<sub>5</sub> in Type IIB with stringy operators, JHEP 08 (2018) 127 [arXiv:1806.07898] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J. R. and C. de Boor, A Practical Guide to Splines, Math. Comput. 34 (1980) 325.
- [66] J. Nocedal and S.J. Wright, Numerical Optimization, second edition, Springer, New York, U.S.A. (2006) [D0I:10.1007/978-0-387-40065-5].
- [67] H. Suganuma, S. Sasaki and H. Toki, Color confinement, quark pair creation and dynamical chiral symmetry breaking in the dual Ginzburg-Landau theory, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 207 [hep-ph/9312350] [INSPIRE].
- [68] F. Castellani and C. Núñez, Holography for Confined and Deformed Theories: TsT-Generated Solutions in type IIB Supergravity, arXiv:2410.00094 [INSPIRE].
- [69] N.T. Macpherson, P. Merrikin and C. Núñez, Marginally deformed AdS<sub>5</sub>/CFT<sub>4</sub> and spindle-like orbifolds, JHEP 07 (2024) 042 [arXiv:2403.02380] [INSPIRE].

- [70] M. Akhond et al., Massive flows in AdS<sub>6</sub>/CFT<sub>5</sub>, Phys. Lett. B 840 (2023) 137899
   [arXiv:2211.09824] [INSPIRE].
- [71] M. Akhond et al., Matrix models and holography: Mass deformations of long quiver theories in 5d and 3d, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 086 [arXiv:2211.13240] [INSPIRE].
- [72] A. Legramandi and C. Núñez, Holographic description of SCFT<sub>5</sub> compactifications, JHEP 02 (2022) 010 [arXiv:2109.11554] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Akhond, A. Legramandi and C. Núñez, Electrostatic description of 3d N = 4 linear quivers, JHEP 11 (2021) 205 [arXiv:2109.06193] [INSPIRE].
- [74] Y. Lozano, C. Núñez, A. Ramirez and S. Speziali, *M*-strings and  $AdS_3$  solutions to *M*-theory with small  $\mathcal{N} = (0, 4)$  supersymmetry, *JHEP* **08** (2020) 118 [arXiv:2005.06561] [INSPIRE].
- [75] Y. Lozano, C. Núñez, A. Ramirez and S. Speziali, New  $AdS_2$  backgrounds and  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  conformal quantum mechanics, JHEP 03 (2021) 277 [arXiv:2011.00005] [INSPIRE].
- [76] J. Bezanson, A. Edelman, S. Karpinski and V.B. Shah, Julia: A Fresh Approach to Numerical Computing, SIAM Rev. 59 (2017) 65 [arXiv:1411.1607] [INSPIRE].
- [77] P. K Mogensen and A. N Riseth, Optim: A mathematical optimization package for Julia, J. Open Source Softw. 3 (2018) 615.
- [78] M. Giliberti, A. Fatemiabhari and C. Núñez, *Robinhood.jl*, (2024) [D0I:10.5281/zenodo.13758659].